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Moses Andrews's farm has been overrun by the city of Meriden, Connecticut, When he
built his house about 1760 a mile west of the center of town, farming was the only purpose for
which the surrounding land was used. Now his house has a school behind it, a fast food
restaurant as the neighbor on one side, and an automobile dealer across the street. The house
is on West Main Street at the point where the downtown commercial activity begins to give way
to a residential neighborhood. The house is on the south side of the street, facing north, 30
feet from the street, essentially unchanged since it was built more than 200 hundred years ago,
while around it all else has changed.

The Andrews House is a five-bay, center chimney, two-and-a-half story salt box,
painted dark red. The siding is clapboards eight to ten feet long, with four inches exposed to
the weather. The corners of the house are finished with plain facing boards, The second story
overhangs the first six inches at the front and the ends, and the third story overhangs the
second six inches at the ends. The tops of the windows are flush under the overhangs. The
wood double-hung sash have panes 55/8 x 7 3/4 inches, twelve-over-twelve in the first floor
and eight-over-twelve in the second floor, The imperfect light transmission of some of the
panes in the second floor windows indicates that they may be original. While the site is small
and hemmed in, it is enhanced by the presence of five good-sized trees.

The front doorway has a 19th century enframement of simple moldings capped by a flat
cornice over dentil course, The door itself may be original; it has four sunken panels and a
transom of four lights, in pairs. There is no porch or hood. The single step is a brownstone
slab, The foundations are of squared stone and the chimney is built of stone, although that
portion of the chimney visible above the roof is brick. The roof is now covered with composi-
tion shingles.

The five bays on the front are not evenly spaced. The two windows on either side of the
front door are in pairs, an early arrangement, as is the presence in both end elevations of
three windows placed vertically one over the other. The end elevations have additional windows
to the rear, in the leanto. Moreover, there are narrow shed additions at each rear corner,
forming in the south elevation a U-shaped court, At the southeast corner the addition projects
to the side as well as to the back., These shed additions, each with a chimney, have brick
foundations, and were added at a later date, They house a modern kitchen and an office.

The front door leads in to a small entrance hall with stairs rising in three runs from
right to left in front of the exposed stone chimney. There are square landings between the
runs, no winders. It is an open string stair with turned balusters and a molded rail. The
small square newell posts have nearly flat tops. The step ends have scrolls, and the wall
under the steps is panelled.

The room to the left (east) is the finest in the house. Its fireplace wall is completely
covered with raised panelling. The small stone fireplace has a bolection molding. The other
three sides of the room have panelled wainscotting, The floor is of broad oak boards and the
ceiling is 85 inches high, with no summer beam. The west front room is similar but not so
elaborately finished. Only the fireplace wall is panelled; the other three walls have a chair
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rail, Both rooms have five-panel doors with HL hinges and with boldly designed thumb
latches, similar to Figure 227 in Kelly's Early Domestic Architecture of Connecticut.

Behind the two front rooms, the house has been opened up into a single space encom-
passing the kitchen and running from the outside west wall through the added shed on the
east, This space is used for museum displays. The kitchen fireplace is relatively small;
it has a stone lintel 69 inches long and a concrete hearth., There is a beehive oven to the
left, just below the level of the lintel, The room has two summer beams.

Upstairs, the west room has a small brick fireplace with molded mantel. Over the
fireplace, to the left and right, are cupboards with flush doors. The east room has no
fireplace, but does have an exposed 10-inch summer beam running front to back. A 29 x
67-inch glass has been installed in the front wall near the corner of the house to show the
wall construction, hand-split lath, and diagonal bracing, Upstairs floors are wide pine
boards and ceiling height is 78 inches.

In the attic and cellar of the house the story of maintenance and repairs over the years
is clearly recorded. The roof is constructed of rafters, purlins, and wide boarding, some
of each having been replaced from time to time. In one case at the ridge line the mortise
and tenon of two principal rafters started to pull apart and the damage has been arrested
with a large angle iron, Rafters to the leanto roof are supported by posts, indicating that
possibly the leanto was added after the front of the house was built, The three vertical
windows in the end walls is consistent with this theory, as they often are found in narrow
two-room plan houses (Kelly, page 97). Just below the roof the chimney changes from
stone to brick, obviously a repair job. The girth of the brick section is smaller than that
of the stone section below it, Carpentry has been done to fill in the opening in the roof
and make it tight around the brick. The original cellar stairs are missing, They may
have been in front of the chimney, as there is a door in the east room that would have led
to them but now serves as the door to a closet. There are several brick piers and adjust-
able steel pipe columns in the cellar introduced to help support the main floor as it began
to sag.

The house has been occupied for some years by the Meriden Historical Society, that
operates it not only as a house museum but also as a museum for display of its collections
of artifacts including muskets, dolls, Meriden-made pewter and silver, and models of
mechanical devices submitted by Meriden inventors in connection with applications for
patents. There is also a modest research library on Meriden history.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Good fortune has preserved the Andrews House in downtown Meriden for more than two
centuries. Completely intact, it is a demonstration of the city's heritage. The integrity of
its structure and the absence of major changes of any kind make it an important example of an
18th century Connecticut colonial house,

There is no ready explanation for why this particular house has survived when so many
others have not. Moses Andrews, the builder, had no children so the house passed into other
hands. A complete chain of title has not been done, but the City of Meriden bought the property
in 1926 (Meriden Land Records 201/69) along with the land behind it, presumably motivated
by the desire to have land on which to build a school. After renting the property as a two-
family house for several years, the City entered into a lease arrangement with the Meriden
Historical Society that continues to the present time,

The source of the "about 1760" date for construction of the house is page 22 of 150 Years
of Meriden, a book published by the City in 1956. The matter of how the date was arrived
at is not set forth, The small fireplaces and absence of winders in the stair make 1760 or a
little earlier seem reasonable,

150 Years of Meriden also tells the story of the beginning of the Episcopal church in
Meriden, at the home of Moses Andrews. During the Revolutionary War Andrews, because
he was an Episcopalian, was suspected of being a Tory, and as such was forbidden to leave
his farm without permission of the selectmen. When Andrews's petition to attend church in
Wallingford was denied, he began services in his home., Formal organization of the Episco-
pal church in Meriden followed in 1789,

After the Meriden Historical Society took possession of the premises the house was
restored in 1935 under the direction of Architect Lorenzo Hamilton, using Works Progress
Administration funds. This may have been the occasion for repairing the chimney stack and
shoring up the roof and attic.

Outstanding among the many Meriden artifacts in the house are portraits of John Yale
and his wife Betsy, They were painted in 1828 by A. Patrlck when John Yale, born in
Meriden in 1757, was 71 and his wife was 42.

Most of the 18th century houses in Meriden have been demolished, The Andrews House
is one of a handful that remain. Its central location makes it a highly visible reminder of
the past. Its original condition makes it a valuable part of the city's heritage.
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